THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Dec 08 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable H. W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 2020-000980

Shante Michele Eugene Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

FRANK L. VALENTA, JR., SC Bar # 5682
General Counsel
PHILIP S. PORTER, SC Bar #4526
Deputy General Counsel
BRANDY A. DUNCAN, SC Bar #72052
South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles
10311 Wilson Boulevard
Post Office Box 1498
Blythewood, South Carolina 29016-0020
Telephone: (803) 896-9900
Facsimile: (803) 896-9901

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- D) THE ALJ ERRONEOUSLY ENGAGED IN A REWEIGHING OF THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE IN VIOLATION OF S.C. CODE §1-23-380(A).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the Court of Appeals pursuant to the appeal of the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles (hereinafter, “SCDMV” or “DMV”), which seeks review of the February 6, 2020, Final Order and June 19, 2020, Amended Final Order from the Administrative Law Court (hereinafter, “ALC”). SCDMV seeks to have the Orders of the Administrative Law Judge (hereinafter, “ALJ”) overturned and the Office of Motor Vehicle Hearings’ (hereinafter, “OMVH”) Final Order and Decision issued May 28, 2019, reinstated in full.

Respondent was arrested for driving under suspension (hereinafter, “DUS”) on May 31, 2013, and convicted of this offense on August 20, 2013, (UTT# 78917GC). R. p. 181, 264, 265, and 268. SCDMV received notice of this conviction on September 3, 2013, and posted this violation to Respondent’s driving record on September 9, 2013. R. p. 268. On June 1, 2013, the Respondent was arrested for DUS and convicted of this offense on February 4, 2014 (UTT# G281787). R. p. 181, 262-263, 265, and 268. SCDMV received notice of this conviction on February 19, 2014, and posted this violation to Respondent’s driving record on February 21, 2014. R. p. 263 and 268. SCDMV mailed Appellant a letter dated February 21, 2014, notifying her that she had accumulated two major and three minor driving violations and was at risk of being declared a habitual offender and undergoing a five year suspension of her driver’s license

and driving privileges.¹ R. p. 181 and 266. Finally, Respondent was arrested for DUS on April 7, 2015, and was convicted of that offense on January 13, 2016 (UTT# 57873GO). R. p. 181, 261, and 267. SCDMV received notice of this conviction on January 18, 2018, and posted this violation to Respondent's driving record on January 24, 2018. R. p. 208 and 267. Thus, Appellant was charged and convicted of three (3) separate and distinct major traffic violations within a three (3) year period. The OMVH Hearing Officer and the ALJ both concluded that the Respondent's driver's record as maintained by SCDMV meets the criteria of a Habitual Offender as defined by S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-1020 (2006) and § 56-1-1030 (Suppl. 2012). R. p. 185, 19, and 6. Further, Respondent has never contested the fact that she incurred the requisite convictions to trigger this habitual offender suspension.

Appellant timely requested a hearing before the OMVH. R. p. 273-276. That hearing was held on April 6, 2018. R. p. 100-168. After reviewing the record and considering all the evidence, the OMVH Hearing Officer sustained the suspension of the Appellant's driving license or driving privileges. R. p. 180-188.

At the OMVH hearing and on appeal to the ALC, Appellant argued that she should not have to serve her habitual offender suspension due to the two year delay between the date of conviction for UTT# 57873GO and when that conviction was communicated to SCDMV.² R. p. 100-168 and 71-82. Further, at the OMVH hearing

¹ This is a process Respondent was familiar with due to her prior declaration and suspension for habitual offender. R. p. 182 and 268.

² The ALC *Brief of Appellant* argued that there was no evidence to support the OMVH Hearing Officer's finding that SCDMV was not at fault in creating the delay in this case. ALC *Brief of Appellant*. This argument is baseless and goes against the evidence presented in this case. The evidence in this case clearly showed that this conviction was not communicated to SCDMV until January 18, 2018, and that SCDMV then promptly

Respondent attempted to present evidence of prejudice or hardship for her having to serve her habitual offender suspension shortly after the date SCDMV received notification of the triggering conviction (January 2018) versus shortly after the date the triggering conviction took place (January 2016). *Id.* The OMVH Hearing Officer ultimately ruled that Appellant did not present evidence of prejudice or hardship that was different from applying the habitual offender suspension in January 2018 versus January 2016. R. p. 180-188. To explain her ruling the OMVH Hearing Officer made the following findings:

- 1) “Respondent resides on Seabrook Island in Beaufort County and commutes approximately 1 ½ hours to and from her place of employment at a mail processing center for the U.S. Postal Service in North Charleston, South Carolina, where she has been employed since May 2016.”³ R. p. 183.
- 2) “Respondent has two children, ages 2 and 3, and they both attend daycare while Respondent works.” *Id.*
- 3) “Respondent has been in the National Guard since November 2013. Respondent testified that she has to report to Hopkins, South Carolina, for drill once a month and that the commute is approximately two hours from her home. Respondent has been in the same National Guard unit since November 2013. Respondent testified that there are National Guard units throughout the state and placement in a particular unit is based upon interest and availability.” *Id.*

placed the conviction on Appellant’s driving record on January 24, 2018. R. p. 229 and 267. Furthermore, despite numerous communications with the Clerk of Court, Appellant was not able to produce any evidence to support the allegation that this conviction was transmitted to SCDMV any sooner than the January 18, 2018, communication from the Beaufort County Sheriff’s Office. R. p. 232 (“Unfortunately we have no record of when the yellow copy was sent to SCDMV. The clerk who does the DL-76 report on Fridays did not keep copies of the transmittals at that time.”).

³ Seabrook Island, located in Charleston County, and Seabrook, located in Beaufort County, are two different locations. Appellant testified that she resides in “Seabrook” in “Beaufort County.” R. p. 130, lines 4-9. Additionally, Appellant’s driving record lists her residence address in Seabrook, Beaufort County. R. p. 205.

- 4) "I find the facts of this case distinguishable from those in both Wilson and Davis. In finding that Davis would suffer prejudice based upon the imposition of the habitual offender suspension after a six-year delay, in Davis the court found significant that the delay exceeded the total time of the five-year habitual offender suspension. In Respondent's case, the delay was two years and clearly did not exceed the total time of the suspension. Additionally, in Davis, his license had been reinstated for a total of twenty months after he fulfilled the requirements to have it reinstated before the SC DMV sought to impose the habitual offender suspension. In this case, Respondent's license had only been reinstated for approximately one month after she fulfilled the requirements to have it reinstated in December 2017 – just after her previous habitual offender suspension ended." *Id.* p. 8.

- 5) "Furthermore, unlike in Wilson, Respondent has not had a significant change in personal or professional circumstances in the two years between her conviction and the imposition of the suspension. In finding that Wilson demonstrated she would be prejudiced by a suspension after five years, the Court looked at the fact that it had taken Wilson two years to find employment after losing her job after her driving under the influence arrest and that travel for her company was a requirement of her new employment. Wilson also presented evidence she would suffer from severe economic hardship if she lost her job. Unlike in Wilson, Respondent has maintained employment in the same position with the U.S. Postal Service in North Charleston since May 2016, and she has been a member of the same National Guard unit since November 2013. Additionally, despite her commute and the suspension of her driving privileges since at least 2012 for a prior habitual offender suspension and other violations, Respondent has maintained that employment and remained in the National Guard since that time. While Respondent testified that she will lose her job if unable to get back and forth to work, which would undoubtedly result in some economic hardship, Respondent also did not present specific evidence to show that she would suffer a severe economic hardship, as in Wilson as a result. Therefore, based upon the evidence presented, I conclude that the imposition of the habitual offender suspensions after the two-year delay would not be fundamentally unfair or constitute a violation of due process." *Id.* p. 8-9.

Thus, the OMVH Hearing Officer weighed the evidence presented at this hearing to determine whether Respondent had presented sufficient evidence of prejudice as a result of the two year delay between her conviction and when that conviction was posted to Respondent's driving record (triggering the habitual offender suspension). Significantly,

the OMVH Hearing Officer found numerous factual differences between this case and the cases *Wilson v. S.C. Dept. of Motor Vehicles*, 419 S.C. 203, 786 S.E.2d 541 (Ct. App. 2017), *Davis v. S.C. Dept. of Motor Vehicles*, 420 S.C. 98, 800 S.E.2d 493 (Ct. App. 2017), and *Hipp v. S.C. Dept. of Motor Vehicles*, 381 S.C. 323, 673 S.E.2d 416 (2009). As a result of those factual differences, the OMVH Hearing Officer weighed the evidence as she deemed appropriate in evaluating whether Respondent presented sufficient evidence of prejudice during the two year delay between when the DUS conviction took place and when SCDMV first attempted to impose this habitual offender suspension.

Respondent appealed the OMVH Hearing Officer's Final Order and Decision to the ALC. R. p. 169-203. Despite the OMVH's factual findings, the ALJ erroneously engaged in a reweighing of the evidence in the case, discounting evidence that the OMVH Hearing Officer found significant and granting more significance to evidence that the OMVH Hearing Officer found irrelevant or of little significance. R. p. 1-27. As stated in S.C. Code §1-23-380(A) the reweighing of evidence by an appellate court is not permitted. Originally, the ALJ attempted to counteract reweighing the evidence in this case by sustaining the habitual offender suspension and ordering the SCDMV to take several illegal actions to soften the blow of having the habitual offender suspension sustained.⁴ R. p. 25-26. In a motion for reconsideration, the SCDMV explained how the

⁴ The ALC ordered the SCDMV to:

- 1) backdate Respondent's habitual offender suspension to start as if SCDMV had timely received the conviction at issue in this case;
- 2) to issue a judicially created route restricted driver's license to Respondent for the remainder of her habitual offender suspension period;
- 3) to grant Respondent permission to drive places on the judicially created route restricted license for which no route restricted license in this State allows driving;
- 4) to waive the statutorily mandated fee associated with the issuance of the route restricted licenses; and

actions ordered by the ALJ were not legal and asked the ALJ to reconsider those parts of the ALC Final Order dated February 6, 2020. R. p. 32-39. The ALJ responded to SCDMV's motion for reconsideration by reversing its prior holding sustaining the habitual offender suspension and alleging that rather than simply asking to enforce the law as written the SCDMV was "unwilling to follow the [ALJ's] previous Order." R. p. 2.

The SCDMV filed this appeal on July 13, 2020.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The scope of judicial review in cases such as this is limited by the Administrative Procedures Act, S.C. Code §1-23-380(A)(5).

(A) A party who has exhausted all administrative remedies available within the agency and who is aggrieved by a final decision in a contested case is entitled to judicial review....

(5) The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court may affirm the decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. The court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or

-
- 5) to waive the statutorily mandated fees associated with reissuing Respondent's driver's license at the end of Respondent's backdated habitual offender suspension.

(f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

In *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981), our Supreme Court set out the standard of evidentiary review under the South Carolina Administrative Procedure Act:

[Section 1-23-380(g)(5)] specifically states: "The Court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of evidence on questions of fact." In addition, the statute states the decision under appeal must be "clearly erroneous" in view of the substantial evidence on the whole record.

We, therefore, caution the Bench and Bar as to the limitations upon the application of the "substantial evidence" rules in reviewing the decision of administrative agencies. As stated in *Dickinson-Tidewater, Inc. v. Supervisor of Assess.*, 273 Md. 245, 329 A.2d 18, 25, the substantial evidence test "need not and must not be either judicial fact-finding or substitution of judicial judgment for agency judgment"; and a judgment upon which reasonable men might differ will not be set aside.

The Court further noted that:

The substantial evidence rule... means that we will not overturn a finding of fact by an administrative agency "unless there is no reasonable probability that the facts could be as related by a witness upon whose testimony the finding was based." (Citation omitted.)

See also *Schudel v. South Carolina Alcoholic Beverage Control Commission*, 276 S.C. 138, 276 S.E.2d 308 (1981); *Fast Stops, Inc. v. Ingram*, 276 S.C. 593, 281 S.E.2d 18 (1981).

An appeal from action of an administrative agency must be sustained if supported by substantial evidence. *Hamm v. American Telephone & Telegraph Co.*, 302 S.C. 211, 394 S.E.2d 842 (1990); *Lark v. Bi Lo, Inc.*, *supra*. In *Lark*, our Supreme Court quoted

Consolo v. Federal Maritime Commission, 383 U.S. 611, 16 L.Ed.2d 131, 86 S.Ct. 1118

(1966), to define substantial evidence:

We have defined "substantial evidence" as "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion."... "It must be enough to justify, if the trial were to a jury, a refusal to direct a verdict when the conclusion sought to be drawn from it is one of fact for the jury..." This is something less than the weight of the evidence, and the possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's finding from being supported by substantial evidence.

Lark, 276 S.C. at 136, 276 S.E.2d at 311. *See, also, Dorman v. DHEC*, 565 S.E.2d 119, 350 S.C. 159 (Ct. App. 2002); *Hamm v. South Carolina Public Service Commission and Wild Dunes Utilities, Inc.*, 311 S.C. 295, 422 S.E.2d 118 (1992).

A court cannot weigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the agency upon a question as to which there is room for a difference of intelligent opinion. *Dorman v. DHEC*, *supra*; *Hamm v. American Telephone & Telegraph Co.*, *supra*; *Chemical Leaman Tank Lines v. South Carolina Public Service Commission*, 258 S.C. 518, 189 S.E.2d 296 (1972). The limited substantial evidence standard of review is intended only to assure that the agency's action is properly supported and that, therefore, no abuse of delegated authority occurred. *See Fowler v. Lewis*, 260 S.C. 54, 194 S.E.2d 191 (1973).

On review of the acts or orders of administrative agencies, the courts will presume, among other things, that the agency action is regular and correct, and that the orders and decisions of the agency are valid and reasonable. 73A C.J.S. *Public Administrative Law and Procedure* Section 220(a) (1983). Therefore, the burden is on the Petitioner to show convincingly that the order of the agency is without evidentiary support or is arbitrary or capricious as a matter of law. *Hamm v. South Carolina Public*

Service Commission, 294 S.C. 320, 364 S.E.2d 455 (1988).

ARGUMENT

I) THE ALJ ERRONEOUSLY ENGAGED IN A REWEIGHING OF THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE IN VIOLATION OF S.C. CODE §1-23-380(A).

There are four cases that have analyzed the issue of a delay between the time a conviction took place and the time SCDMV (or its' predecessor agencies) took suspension action based on that conviction. Each of these cases demonstrates that the appellate courts have consistently analyzed whether the delay resulted in some increased prejudice or denial of fundamental fairness as a result of the delay itself. It is intuitive that any driver's license/driving privilege suspension causes hardship for the person who is not allowed to drive during the suspension period. These cases each looked to see if there was something about the delay that caused that hardship to be increased in any way. Each of these four cases are discussed in further detail below in the order in which they were decided.

The first case to address the delay issue was *State v. Chavis*, 261 S.C. 408, 200 S.E.2d 390 (1973). Mr. Chavis was arrested for driving under the influence (hereinafter, "DUI") on December 1, 1971. *Id.* at S.E.2d 391. Mr. Chavis refused to submit to a breathalyzer test. *Id.* Mr. Chavis was convicted of DUI on March 7, 1972. *Id.* For unknown reasons that DUI conviction and the notification that Mr. Chavis had refused to submit to a breathalyzer test were not sent to the SC Highway Department (one of SCDMV's predecessor agencies) until on or about February 1, 1973. *Id.* The SC Highway Department notified Mr. Chavis on February 8, 1973, that his driver's license would be suspended from February 8, 1973 through May 8, 1973 for the refusal to submit to a breathalyzer test. *Id.* The SC Highway Department further notified Mr. Chavis on

February 22, 1973, that his driver's license would be suspended from May 9, 1973 through November 8, 1973 as a result of his DUI conviction. *Id.* 200 S.E.2d at 391. Thus, there was approximately a fifteen month delay between the refusal to submit to a breathalyzer and when the SC Highway Department notified Mr. Chavis of his suspension for that violation. Additionally, there was approximately a one year delay between the DUI conviction and when the SC Highway Department notified Mr. Chavis of his suspension for that conviction. The Record on Appeal contained no additional facts and, as a result, the Court ruled on the case solely based upon the time delay and whether that time delay was unreasonable, violated basic fairness, and violated due process of law provisions of both State and Federal Constitutions. *Id.* In ruling on these matters, the Supreme Court made the following findings:

- 1) There was no contention or suggestion that there was any unreasonable delay on the part of the SC Highway Department once it was notified of the violation and conviction. *Id.*
- 2) There was no contention or suggestion that there was any improper conduct on the part of the SC Highway Department. *Id.*
- 3) The parties' responsible for the delays in sending the notices of the violation and conviction to the SC Highway Department were not parties to the case. *Id.*
- 4) The Record on Appeal contained no evidence as to the circumstances that caused the delay. *Id.*
- 5) The Record on Appeal contained no evidence of any prejudice to Mr. Chavis as a result of the delay. *Id.*

- 6) Mr. Chavis was “charged with knowledge of the law, and that therefore his license was required to be suspended.” *Id.*
- 7) The Record on Appeal contained no evidence that Mr. Chavis sought, wished, or desired to have the suspensions promptly started. *Id.*
- 8) “For aught the record shows, [Mr. Chavis] simply kept quiet and continued to drive in the hope that his license suspension would somehow or other get overlooked and never be imposed.” *Id.*
- 9) The only case (at that time) where a driver was afforded relief as a result of a delay was a case from Pennsylvania where the driver “made a strong showing of substantial prejudice from a very long delay” from the office whose duty it was to impose the suspension. *Id.* 200 S.E.2d at 392.

Thus, right from the beginning the SC Supreme Court set forth that a prejudice analysis must be performed in these cases and discussed some of the items that should be considered as part of that analysis: 1) the length of the delay, 2) the person/agency that caused the delay, 3) the reason for the delay [if known], 4) whether the SCDMV engaged in any unreasonable delay or improper conduct, 5) whether there has been a change the driver’s circumstances that creates substantial prejudice as a result of the delay, and 6) whether the driver took any action to ensure the suspension was promptly started or whether the driver “simply kept quiet and continued to drive in the hope that his license suspension would somehow or other get overlook and never be imposed.”

The second case to address the delay issue was *Hipp v. S.C. Dept. of Motor Vehicles*, 381 S.C. 323, 673 S.E.2d 416 (2009). The *Hipp* case had substantially different facts than the *Chavis* case. Mr. Hipp was convicted of DUI in Georgia in 1993. *Hipp*,

381 S.C. at 324. SCDMV was not notified of that Georgia DUI conviction until 2005. *Id.* Thus, the delay in the *Hipp* case was twelve years long. The SC Supreme Court found it significant that Title 56 of the South Carolina Code is replete with ten-year limitations for purposes of sentence enhancement and keeping record of convictions. *Id.* at 325-326. The SC Supreme Court concluded by stating that “under the unique circumstances of this case, the attempted suspension of [Mr. Hipp’s] driver’s license twelve years after conviction constitutes a denial of fundamental fairness.” *Id.* at 326. Some of the unique circumstances of the *Hipp* case that were considered by the lower court were:

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