THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

**Dec 29 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable H.W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge

---

Case No.2020-000980

Shante Michele Eugene

Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

---

Arie D. Bax  
The Bax Law Firm, PA 10  
Sams Point Way  
Suite B-1 PMB 138  
Beaufort, South Carolina 29907  
(843) 522-0980  
Arie.baxlaw@gmail.com  
Attorney for Respondent

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE ALJ DID NOT ERRONEOUSLY ENGAGE IN A REWEIGHING OF THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE IN VIOLATION OF S.C. CODE § 1-23-380(A) BUT INSTEAD CORRECTLY FOUND THE LOWER COURT HAD MADE AN ERROR OF LAW.

Contrary to Appellant’s argument that the ALJ reweighed the events and facts that were heard by the hearing officer, it can be clearly seen by the Amended Final Order that the ALJ found a clear error of law by the Hearing Officer. Such an error of law is not only covered by the statute that the Appellant relies on to assert that the ALJ violated, that specific statute requires the overturning of decisions made pursuant to an error of law. The ALJ specifically states, “[t]hus, this Court’s review is limited to deciding whether the OMVH’s Final Order and Decision is unsupported by substantial evidence or is affected by an error of law, an abuse of discretion, or is arbitrary or capricious. *Bass v. Kenco Group*, 366 S.C. 450. 457. 622 S.E.2d 577. 581 (Ct. App. 2005). The findings of the agency are presumed correct and must be affirmed if supported by substantial evidence.” Supplemental R p. 1 .

The ALJ makes it clear in his orders that he is making a ruling based on error of law and not based on a reevaluation of the facts presented and ruled on by the agency. “The Court finds the

Final Order and Decision to be affected by an error of law and to be clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the record.” R p. 9.

The court goes on to state, “[i]t is axiomatic that the ALC may reverse because of an error of law. See, e.g. *Olsen v. S.C. Dept. of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 379 S.C. 57, 63, 663 S.E.2d 497. 501 (Ct. App. 2008) (finding an appellate court may reverse the decision of a lower court '[i]f the findings are affected by an error of law, are not supported by substantial evidence, or are characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion)'. An abuse of discretion occurs when an administrative agency's ruling is based upon an error of law, such as the application of the wrong legal principle; or when based upon factual conclusions, the ruling is without evidentiary support; or when the trial court is vested with discretion, but the ruling reveals no discretion was exercised; or when the ruling does not fall within the range of permissible decisions applicable in a particular case, such that it may be deemed arbitrary and capricious. *State v. Allen*, 370 S.C. 88, 94, 634 S.E.2d 653. 656 (2006).” Supplemental R p. 1.

The ALJ order does not make any additional findings of fact or reweighing of facts. The ALJ merely examines the hearing officer's analysis and application of the undisputed facts to the existing case law. The Hearing Officer found that Respondent's case was distinguishable from *Wilson v. S.C. Dept. of Motor Vehicles*, 419 S.C. 203, 786 S.E.2d 541 (Ct. App. 2017) and *Davis v. S. C. Dept. of Motor Vehicles*, 420 S. C. 98, 800, S.E.2d 493 (Ct. App. 2017) in 2 ways. First, that Respondent's license had only been reinstated one month after her previous habitual offender suspension ended and her license was reissued. Secondly, that the delay in Respondent's case was only 2 years. In examining the hearing officer's analysis of the *Wilson* and *Davis* cases and how they apply to the instant case, the ALJ finds that “while Hearing Officer Autry may be correct in her findings on these two points of distinction, this comparison falls short of the analysis in *Davis*.

There, although the Court of Appeals recognized that the delay exceeded the total time of the suspension, more importantly the Court identified two major factors leading to the finding of fundamental unfairness in violation of due process.” R p. 8.

The ALJ made it clear that he relied on the *Davis* court finding prejudice and injury because Davis had already paid the reinstatement fees, met the requirements for reinstatement, and his license was reinstated for twenty months. In the instant case, the hearing Officer, while acknowledging the facts that Respondent had paid reinstatement fees, met the requirements for reinstatement (including obtaining SR-22 insurance and payment of \$1000 in fines in fees to the state of Georgia), ignores these facts in making her ruling. R p. 133. The hearing officer further ignores Respondent’s testimony that she would not have spent so much effort, time and money if she was not going to have her privileges reinstated. R pp. 121, 133. The hearing officer ignores this and only compares the difference in the amount of time that Respondent had her license back as compared to Davis.

As noted by the ALJ, the *Davis* court articulated another factor leading the determination of fundamental unfairness was that neither Davis or the DMV was at fault for the delay. “[I]n the *Davis* comparison, the Final Order and Decision fails to recognize the second factor considered by the Court of Appeals in *Davis* is also present and relevant in Appellant’s [Respondent’s] case: neither party was at fault for the delay. Moreover, the Court of Appeals also established fault - or lack thereof — as a primary consideration in *Wilson* 419 S.C. at 209, 796 S.E.2d at 545 (finding a due process violation -when sufficient evidence of prejudice exists in the record and neither party is at fault for the delay. However, when comparing Appellant's circumstances to those set forth in *Wilson*, the Hearing Officer ignored this lack of fault. R p. 9.

The ALJ analyzes the hearing officer's findings based on *Davis* and *Wilson* and points out the fact that instead of focusing on the two primary factors the court laid out in *Davis*, the Hearing Officer instead focuses on the delay. "However, the court finds that the *Davis* decision only noted that the delay exceeded the time period of the suspension but set forth two other distinct deciding factors in its analysis." R p. 8. The ALJ determined that the *Davis* court didn't rely on the fact of the time period of suspension versus the delay, it only mentions it. The ALJ found that Hearing Office incorrectly compared the suspension period to the delay period as if it was a factor.

Furthermore, the ALJ found an additional error of law in that the Hearing Officer applied an evidentiary standard that is incorrect. Hearing Officer Autry specifically found that there was no "severe economic hardship" to Respondent which is not a standard found in either *Davis* or *Wilson*. R p. 188. There is no case law authorizing the Hearing Officer to implement and apply a "severe prejudice" or "severe economic hardship" standard of the prejudice that is required to be shown. In *State v. Chavis*, 261 S.C. 408, 200 S.E. 2nd 390, 392 (1973), the only language used by the court is was a showing of "real prejudice".

This is further clarified by the *Wilson* case. In *Wilson*, *Wilson* presented to the court that she would suffer "severe economic hardship" if the suspension was imposed. The court declined to adopt that language as the standard and maintained that what was required was "a showing of a high likelihood of injury or potential prejudice" *Id.* at 497 (2017) (emphasis added). Even though the Hearing Officer also cited *Davis* in her order, the *Davis* case does not create any higher standard of proof required by the Appellant but simply follows the same standard of *Wilson* as to prejudice. Furthermore, in *Wilson*, the prejudice or injury suffered was the potential loss of employment and her then subsequent inability to pay two mortgages. The only distinguishable factor between *Wilson* and the instant case is that Appellant would suffer more potential prejudice as she would not only

lose her job, she could also lose her commission in the National Guard, and all of the benefits therefrom.

Thus the ALJ correctly ruled as follows; “Therefore, in concluding that Appellant failed to present ‘specific evidence that she could suffer a severe economic hardship.’ Hearing Officer Autry applied a heightened standard of injury and prejudice and based her decision on an incorrect legal principle, therefore making an error of law.” R p. 11.

Appellant’s argument relies solely on the contention that the ALJ somehow reweighed the facts found by the Hearing Officer, despite the fact that the ALJ order does not support this contention. Instead, it is clear that the ALJ found that the Hearing Officer misapplied the standards articulated in *Davis* and *Wilson*. Appellant does not address this issue at any time during its brief on this Appeal or previously in its Motion to Reconsider. Appellant’s refusal to accept the first order of the court left the ALJ with only one legal option due to the Hearing Officer’s imposition of the improper standard. Instead Appellant completely ignores the sound reasoning behind the ALJ’s ruling and completely ignores the fact that the hearing officer applied a heightened standard that is not supported by case law.

Appellant goes on at length about the ALJ reweighing facts, however, all Appellant does is reargue why the facts accepted and established by both courts should not result in a finding against the DMV. Appellant is trying to re-litigate its case under the thin guise of a complaint about the ALJ’s analysis of the facts as established by the evidence that the DMV had an opportunity to challenge at the original hearing. For example, Appellant challenges Respondents assertion that she had no one to give her a ride to get back and forth to Charleston for work. Appellant attacks this in its brief by stating, “this testimony was vague and undeveloped.” If Appellant had a problem with this testimony, Appellant’s had every opportunity to challenge that testimony at the time of the

hearing. Counsel was present, had an opportunity and did cross exam Respondent at the hearing. If Appellant wanted to establish additional facts to corroborate this assertion. Appellant argues “Contrary to Mr. Hipp, Ms. Wilson, and Mr. Davis, Appellant's circumstances at the time SCDMV sought to impose this habitual offender suspension (January 2018) were nearly identical to those that existed at the time of Appellant's triggering conviction.” That is blatantly untrue. Respondent’s testimony at the hearing specifically attested to the fact that she began employment at USPS in May of 2016 and at that time, she had been staying with her cousin who lived in Charleston. R. p. 131. She further testified that her cousin no longer lived in Charleston so she is now required to commute approximately an hour and fifteen minutes and an hour and a half from Beaufort. R pp. 130-131.

Appellant argues that Respondent’s testimony that she doesn’t have anyone to give her a ride back and forth to Charleston for work is vague and undeveloped. Appellant does not explain how not having someone give Respondent a ride back and forth on a commute that is over an hour is vague and undeveloped. Furthermore, Appellant had the opportunity to cross exam Respondent and had every opportunity to flesh out any details or lack thereof on the record. Instead, Appellant wants to argue about what it considers shortcomings to the evidence presented at the appellate level despite having an opportunity to address those issue at the trial level and at the ALC level. Furthermore, Appellant wants to argue in a footnote about what the meaning of “stayed” is and argue facts outside of evidence b making suppositions that Respondent probably only stayed with her cousin 2 or 3 nights a year. Appellant had every opportunity to make those details a part of the record and at the very least make the argument to the Hearing Officer. Instead, Appellant does exactly what the Appellant complains that the ALJ did and argues facts outside the record.

Appellant also seems to have a hard time figuring out how Respondent could have a two year old in April 2018 after her conviction in January 2016. This argument is nonsensical and is not even a point that ALJ relied on making his ultimate ruling.

While arguing and making assumptions of facts not in evidence, Appellant continues to argue that the ALJ considered facts outside of evidence. Specifically, Appellant argues that the tests Respondent would have taken to receive her license back would have been minimal to Respondent, like the length of time of knowledge and skills tests, the procedure, and how much it costs, all trying to trivialize the prejudice suffered by Respondent in this matter. However, none of these facts were entered into the record. Appellant asserts that “although Respondent’s testimony made it sound as if she put great effort, resources, and money into regarding her driver’s license.... that is simply not accurate.” Yet, Appellant’s only attempts to refute the facts in the record with alleged facts that it did not bother to present or argue at the hearing level. Appellant continues arguing further facts not in evidence in its accompanying footnote. Appellant Brief p. 30 and footnote 17.

Additionally, the Appellant is also once again missing the point by trying to argue a heightened standard that is not indicated in the case law. As in *Chavis*, the case law requires a showing of “real prejudice” and does not give a certain level to that prejudice or require that it be severe or substantial. Appellant basically argues that whatever hardship the Respondent suffers or would suffer is not enough. If neither party was at fault in bring on the delay and the driver suffered some prejudice, the court can overturn that suspension as a violation of their due process rights.

Appellant also continues to argue that the ALJ referred to Respondent’s payment of \$1000 to clear up driving issues in GA was a fact not in evidence. Appellant continues by arguing that the only time this is mentioned in the record is by Respondents counsel in final argument. It is clear by reading the language in the transcript of the hearing, that there is a clear scrivener’s error by the

transcriptionist and that this testimony occurred in the middle of direct examination and indicates Respondent's response to questioning by her counsel and the court. R p. 121, lines 8-21. If read in context, there is testimony on line 8 where counsel hands the proposed exhibit to Respondent and asks Respondent to identify it. Respondent then testifies regarding the \$1000 she paid Georgia to ensure her South Carolina driving privileges would not be suspended. Appellant cites this as the ALJ considering facts outside of evidence when it is clear this was testimony and documents entered into evidence. The hearing officer even asked if Appellant had an objection to the admittance of the document and to which Appellant did not. R p. 121, lines 24-25.

#### CONCLUSION

When examining the Amended Final Order of the ALJ's final order that Appellant's contention that the lower court engaged in some improper re-analysis or reweighing of the facts is simply incorrect. Appellant fails to even address the clear error of law and finding by the court. As such this appeal should be dismissed.